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General Information 
 
The bank must answer all questions in this form as the bank’s proposal with other bank 
information necessary. The District has the right to reject any proposal. If any part of this proposal 
or any contract entered into between the bank and District is found to be invalid, the remainder, 
at the District’s option, remains in force.  The District has the right to use other depository banks 
in addition to the primary bank identified through this RFP process. 
 
Bank Compensation 
 
The District reserves the right to pay for bank services by targeted compensating balances or by 
fees and change the methodology when appropriate and required.  Under a compensating 
balance basis, the District will maintain appropriate balances to compensate in full or in part for 
services provided.  A carry-over provision is required.  
 
In either a compensating balance or fee basis, the bank must provide a monthly account analysis 
that reflects the earnings credit rate (ECR) and list all fees and charges on a relationship and 
individual account basis. The District may choose to pay for the bank services on a straight fee 
basis in which we will not maintain a targeted balance. The bank will assess fees through an 
account analysis with fees as listed on Attachment A (Proposed Fees).   Fees not included on 
Attachment A will not be valid through the contract period except on new types of services added 
under the contract. A copy of the current contract will not be made available. 
 
The District will direct all investments and account types utilized.  If a money market mutual fund 
is used it must be registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), rated AAA and 
strive to maintain a $1 NAV.  Off-shore investments and repurchase agreements are not 
authorized as sweep mechanisms.   
 
Historical monthly averages for services currently used are found on The Exhibit I for individual 
accounts and on Attachment A on a summary basis.  Based on the services required to provide 
any and all of the services detailed below and including any alternatives or optional services 
presented by the bank, Attachment A must be completed with a complete fee schedule for those 
services.   All fees which may be charged to supply the services must be included on Attachment 
A or will not be eligible under the contract.   
 
The District and the bank reserve the right to mutually agree in written form upon any change of 
contract terms or pricing during the contract extension periods.  
 
By submitting this proposal, the bank acknowledges that the bank agrees with and accepts all 
specifications in the proposal except as the bank expressly qualified in the proposal.  All required 
District forms found in Exhibit II must be completed and submitted with the proposal. 
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District Investments 
All investments are under the District’s sole direction and it reserves the right to purchase, sell, 
and invest District funds and funds under our control as authorized by the Texas Government 
Code, Chapter 2256, Public Funds Investment Act, and in compliance with the District investment 
policy.  We may choose to invest in time deposits at the depository, but all investments including 
certificates of deposit are bid competitively at the time of purchase. 
Collateral 
The bank must provide collateral equal to 102% market value (and 110% on mortgage backed 
securities) as collateral on all our time and demand deposits plus accrued interest minus 
applicable Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) coverage on a daily basis.  
 
Specific collateral terms and conditions are detailed in the RFP. Collateral requirements are as 
specified by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2257, Public Funds Collateral Act. The 
Depository Agreement must executed in accordance with the Financial Institutions Reform, 
Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA).  
 
We estimate our maximum anticipated collateral requirement to be $1.5 million without an 
external sweep.   
 
 
Proposal Qualifications and Submission Instructions 
By submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, depositories will be deemed to agree to the 
mandatory contract and service provisions contained herein.  This RFP and the proposal 
submitted will be incorporated into and form the basis of the bank depository services 
contract. 
 
 
 
Proposal Format  
In order to equitably evaluate each bank's ability to meet the banking service needs of the District, 
a standard format for all proposals is required.  A response must be given to each item in Sections 
V- VII of this RFP along with completion of Attachment A.  Responses must be in the same order 
as the questions presented and a response given for each question, stating acceptance of, 
modifications or additions to, or a statement of the inability to provide said service. Only proposals 
submitted in the prescribed format and using the provided Attachment A will be considered and 
evaluated for contract award.  Additional explanatory information may be included as part of a 
proposal. 
 
This RFP and the proposal submitted will be incorporated into and form the basis of the bank 
depository services contract.  This RFP is being issued and must be submitted in electronic form 
or mailed to BVISD at P.O. Box 310, 11 Imperial, Texas 79743.   
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Schedule for Proposal Submission  
The District will make every effort to adhere to the following schedule. 
 
04/22/21 Release of Request for Proposal 
04/29/21 Deadline for questions concerning the RFP or services requested 
05/06/21 Responses to any questions on the RFP - provided to known proposers 
05/13/21 Deadline for proposal submission  
06/10/21 Award of Contract by Board 
09/01/21 Contract commencement 
 
Proposal Submission  
To be eligible for consideration under this request must be made through Buena Vista ISD 
Business Office.  Submit one copy of the signed proposal, sheets, required forms and supporting 
data: Mail to P.O. Box 310 Imperial, Texas 79743 by 2:00 p.m. CST on May 13, 2021. Proposals 
received after that time by the district will not be accepted.   
 
An accompanying cover/transmittal letter must be signed by an individual authorized to bind 
the institution, state that the proposal is valid for 180 days from the submission date, and give 
full contact information regarding the proposal.   
 
 
RFP Questions  
There will be no pre-proposal conference.  Questions regarding this RFP, or the services 
requested, will be accepted in e-mail form only, at jcastillo@bvisd.esc18.net  
on or before 2:00 pm April 29, 2021.  Responses to all material questions submitted will be 
communicated via email to all known proposers by 2:00 pm May  6, 2021. 
 
 
Selection Criteria   
The following criteria will be used as the weighting basis for evaluation of the proposals and the 
award recommendation. 

40 % - Cost of services  
 40 % -  Capabillity to provide required services and services offered 
 10 % -  Potential earnings   
 10 % -  Institutional stability and collateralization policy 
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The District will consider the availability of services and the cost of those services as well as the 
earnings potential under the contract.  All these elements will be combined for evaluation of the 
proposals. 
 
Award may not be made to the institution submitting the lowest price proposal.  The District will 
choose the institution submitting the best, most responsive overall proposal to satisfy the 
District’s needs. 
 
 
District Rights  
The District reserves the right to: 

- waive any defect, irregularity or informality in the proposal or proposal procedures, 
- reject any and all proposals, 
- accept any proposal or portion thereof most advantageous to District, 
- request additional information or require a meeting with bank representatives for 

clarification, 
- cancel, revise, and/or reissue this request for proposal or any portions thereof,  
- negotiate any conditions with proposers, 
- retain all other provisions even if any provision of the proposal is deemed invalid, 
- modify deadlines, and 
- select any proposal deemed to be in its best interest as determined by the District. 
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Depository Financial and Customer Service Information 
 
Answer each of the following questions about the submitting depository bank.  
 
1. State the full name and address of the depository and any parent holding company. List all 

branch locations.  
 
2. Provide the link to the current audited annual financial statement.  The bank will be required 

to provide the new statement each year of the contract.  Confirm acceptance of this 
condition. 

 
3. What is the bank’s current CRA rating?  Note the rating agency. 
 
4. Provide the bank’s (holding company) current senior and subordinate debt ratings. If not 

available provide the bank rating from an independent depository rating agency. The bank 
must inform the District of any change in this rating during the period of the contract within 
a reasonable period.  Confirm agreement to this condition. 

 
5. Provide assigned customer service representatives information to ensure smooth 

communication and continuation of services. The bank must assign a specific account 
executive and a backup to the account to coordinate services and help solve any problem 
encountered. What are the specific assigned duties of this representative?   
 

6.   Describe specifically how the bank will address problem resolution, customer service, day-
to-day contact, and ongoing maintenance for the District.  
 

7.   How often does the bank expect to meet with the District to review current and new 
services and fees? 

 
8. List references from at least three of the bank’s current, comparable governmental clients. 

Include the length of time under contract and a client contact, title, and email address. 
 
9. Based on the services required, provide a proposed timeline for implementing the contract; 

include the timeline activities and direct responsibilities of both the district and the bank 
during implementation. 

 
10. Provide a copy of all agreements (including those not directly referenced in this proposal) 

that will be required to be executed under the contract providing the required services. Any 
changes required will be agreed upon and made in writing before award of the contract. 

 
 
11. Is the bank offering any transition or retention incentive? If so, please describe and 

quantify. 
 
12.  Describe and quantify the bank support for the District and the local community.   
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Required Banking Services 
 

1. Consolidated Account Structure with Sweep Mechanism  
 

The District is always striving to earn at current reasonable interest rates. This may include 
the ability to use an automated, daily sweep to a money market mutual fund or depository 
alternative account (money market account, if competitive) to reach our full investment goal.  
An external sweep may not be applicable in the current low interest rate environment but a 
sweep mechanism must be available.   
 
If used, the money market mutual funds must be SEC registered, AAA rated and strive to 
maintain a $1 NAV.  The District will not authorize a repurchase agreement or offshore 
investments as a sweep investment vehicle. 
 
Currently the account structure includes forty (3) bank accounts as shown on Exhibit II (Bank 
Account Detail by Account). These balances and/or structure may or may not be maintained 
under the new contract.  A master sweep account is not used at this time but it is intended to 
be used under the new contract.  The majority of District funds are held in local government 
pools. 
 
 
a. Fully describe the proposed account structure. Can the bank provide a sweep to an 

external money market mutual fund (MMMF)?  
 

b. If a external sweep is not utilized, describe the recommended structure of the accounts.  
Are internal sweeps always swept to a money market account? 
 

c. Would an external sweep be from a master account with ZBAs or directly swept from the 
individual accounts? Is interest distributed to the account level? Describe how sweep 
income is reported.   
 

d. Can multiple sweeps be created sweeping to multiple master accounts? 
 

e. If an SEC-registered money market fund is used for the sweep proposal, provide the full 
name, cusip, and a copy of the prospectus.  It must strive to maintain a $1 NAV. 
 

f. If the interest rates are internally managed rates, what is the basis for the rates over 
time? 
 

g. The District may be required or may desire to open additional accounts, close accounts, 
or change account types during the contract period. If this occurs, the new accounts and 
services must be charged at the same contracted amount or, if new services are utilized, 
at not more than published rates. 
 

h. Will the bank charge a balance based fee? 
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i. Interest will not be charged on the account analysis.  Confirm agreement to this 
condition. 
 
 

j. Complete the following table with the bank rates as shown: 
 
 Avg in 2020 Current Rate 
ECR % % 
Interest Bearing Accounts % % 
Money Market Accounts % % 
Sweep to MMMF % % 

 
 
 

2. Automated Cash Management Information  
 

Access to automated balance and detail information as well as online retention of reports 
and transactions/images is required.  Automation of all transactions, without paper backup 
documentation requirements, is also required. 
 

a. Provide a link for your online treasury management portal/service.  
 

b. List the system capabilities.  Do any automated services require paper follow-up 
documentation?  
 

c. What is the bank backup process to report balances and transactions in case the 
system is not available? 
 

d. When is daily balance information available? What is the retention period for all 
types of transactions (prior and current day)? 
 

e. Who has administrative control on security access to screens and transactions?   
 

f. What type of messaging, alert, and event messaging service does the bank use?  Are 
alerts sent by email or must the user sign-on to the system to see that alerts have 
been sent? 
 

g. What items and reports are available online (checks, statements, deposit slips, 
deposited items, etc.)?How long are each retained on line?   
 

h. Are all items imaged?  What items are imaged and how long are they retained 
online? 
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3. Deposit and Collection Services  

 

We require standard commercial deposit services for all accounts.  
 
The District requires that all deposited checks clear based on the current FRB availability 
schedule.  Any options for expedited availability in the bank proposal should be noted.  
 
All deposits received by the bank’s established deadline must receive same-day ledger 
credit. Failure to credit accounts in a timely fashion, will result in interest paid by the bank at 
the then-current effective federal funds rate.  
 
a. What is the daily cutoff time to ensure same-day ledger credit?  

 
b. Describe how and when credit and debit advices are sent to us.. 

 
c. What type of deposit bags does the bank use or require? Are these available from the 

bank?  
 

d. Provide a list of deposit locations  with services offered in each. 
 

e. Describe the bank capabilities in e-receivables.  
 
 

Remote Deposit 
The District does not currently use remote check deposit but will require a totally web based 
process under the new contract. 
 
a. Does the bank have current capabilities in remote check deposit? Describe how checks 

are processed and cleared. Is the service completely web-based? 
 

b. State the cutoff time for same-day ledger credit. 
 

c. Provide a batch balancing report sample. 
 

d. What scanner equipment is required to operate the system?  Is this equipment available 
through the bank for purchase or lease?   
 

e. Will the bank provide the scanner(s)? Describe? 
  
 
 NSF Checks 

The District may chose and wants the ability to use a second presentment of the NSF by ACH 
to targeted dates for maximum collection potential. 
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a. Describe the bank standard NSF processing.   
 
b. How and when are we notified of an NSF? 
 
c. Is the bank currently using ACH RCK for collection of NSF checks? How long has the 

bank been providing this service? Provide a comparable reference with full contact 
information. 

 
d. How are the NSF and the later ACH transactions matched and reconciled? Does the 

bank system cross-reference the two transactions in any way? 
 
e. Is the NSF information, image, or occurrence available online? When and how? For how 

long is it available online? 
 
f. Can we specify any target pay day(s) on RCK?  How many target dates? 

 
4. Disbursing Services 

 

Standard disbursing services are required for all designated accounts.  The District is 
moving to increased ACH use for vendor checks but will be issuing physical checks 
requiring positive pay. 
 
a. Does the bank image all paid checks, deposit items and deposit slips?  

 
b. Are checks, deposit slips, and deposit images available online? When?  For how long? 

 
c. How long do the bank maintain check, deposit slips, and deposit images online? 

 
d. Will the bank pay District employee checks without charge upon presentation for non- 

account holders?  Will there be a fee to the District? 
 

e. Describe the bank capabilities in e-payables.   
 

f. Does the bank have a virtual card program for payables?  Describe fully.. 
 

 
5. Positive Pay 

 

The District is currently using positive pay but will require positive pay services for all accounts 
on which checks are written under this contract.  Payee positive pay is preferred. 
 
The positive pay process must be fully automated and web based. The District will transmit 
check information electronically (batch or online entry).  
 
a. Describe the data transmission and transfer requirements for positive pay.  

 
b. Describe the input process for manual checks online.  Is any paper backup 

documentation required? 
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c. How are records changed or deleted, if necessary?  

 
d. How does the bank notify the District of a positive pay exception? Describe. 

 
e. At what specific time does the bank report exceptions to the Ditrict?  

 
f. What is the deadline for exception elections?  

 
g. Are images of exceptions available and provided when reported? 

 
h. Are all checks, including those received by the tellers (and vault) verified against the 

positive pay file before processing? How often does the bank update teller information? 
 

i. Do the bank offer payee positive pay? 
 
 

6. Account Reconciliation  
 

The District is not currently using any reconciliation services.    
 
a. Describe the bank’s partial reconciliation processes.  

 
b. Does the bank have any customers using the TxIES system for interface purposes?  

Give one reference with contact information. 
 

c. How are reconciliation reports and information sent to us? When?  
 

d. Specify all reporting alternatives. Provide a reconciliation report sample. 
 

e. Are reports available online? How long are reports maintained online? 
 

7. Funds Transfer and Wire Services  
 

The District rarely uses wires.  Incoming wire transfers must receive immediate same-day 
collected credit. Wire initiation must be online. Wires must be released the same business 
day if information is provided by the established deadline. 
 
a. Describe the process of online wire initiation: repetitive and non-repetitive. 

 
b. Does the bank provide online wire monitoring? 

 
c. What backup process is available for the online process in case the system is 

unavailable? 
 

d. Is any paper transaction required at any time for transfers or wires as follow-up?  
 

e. How and when will the bank notify the District of incoming wires? 
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f. Is information on pending wires/transfers available online?  Describe. 

 
g. Is future dating available for both repetitive and non repetitive wires and transfers? How 

far in advance? 
 

h. What is the deadline for same day initiation? 
 

i. Do all wires (repetitive and non-repetitive) and internal transfers require dual control 
(initiation and release)?   

 
j. Are templates and template storage available? 

 
 
8. Automated Clearinghouse (ACH) Services  

 

The District requires ACH transactions for payable and receivable transactions using NACHA 
standards. The District will be originating and receiving ACH debits and credits and will require 
a pre-notification (pre-note) on all new transactions.  
 
a. Describe batch format and transmission requirements. 

 
b. Can all individual ACH transactions be input online? Describe the process and 

deadlines. 
 

c. What filters and blocks are available for accounts? 
 

d. Are ACH addenda shown in their entirety online and in reports?  Does it require an extra 
EDI module/report? 
 

e. Is a pre-note charged as a standard ACH transaction?  
 

f. What is the deadline for transmission (hour and day) for a payroll to credit employee 
accounts on a Friday?  
 

g. Can the bank provide two-day, one-day and same-day ACH transactions?   
 

h. Are accounts debited at the time of file submission or on settlement? 
 

9. Safekeeping Services  
 

The District requires the bank or its safekeeping correspondent to provide book-entry 
safekeeping services for all securities owned by the District. The District will make all our 
investment decisions and transmit instructions for clearing and safekeeping to the bank in 
writing electronically.  
 
All securities must be cleared on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis. Ownership must 
be documented by original clearing confirmations, and safekeeping confirmation must be 
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provided within one business day of the transaction. Funds for investments must be drawn 
from our designated demand deposit account. All principal and interest payments, coupon 
payments, and maturities must receive automated same-day collected credit on our 
designated account without requiring any additional action.  
 
If the bank uses a correspondent bank for safekeeping, the transactions must be handled 
through the bank’s own systems and must not require additional interaction by the District with 
the correspondent bank. No delay in transactions, wires, or flow of funds is acceptable under 
a correspondent relationship. 
 
 
Fees for safekeeping must be detailed on Attachment A. 
 
a. Is the bank a member of the Federal Reserve and DTC?  Will the bank act as 

safekeeping agent?   
 

b. If using a correspondent depository describe the safekeeping arrangement proposed 
with a correspondent depository including processing requirements. Which institution will 
safekeep District owned securities? 
 

c. Are security transactions able to be originated or required to be originated online? If so, 
describe the initiation and release process. 
 

d. Is online inquiry for securities available? 
 

e. What is the deadline for settlement instructions on a cash (same-day) settlement? Would 
the District incur any charge for late instructions? 

 
We may choose to purchase time deposits from the bank, but all time deposits will be 
competitively bid at the time of purchase.  

 
 

10. Collateral Requirements  
 

The bank must meet all the District requirements, including those beyond the Public Funds 
Collateral Act, as stated below. The proposal must state that the bank agrees to the following 
terms and conditions or provide a full explanation of exceptions proposed. 
 
• All collateral pledged to the District must be held by an independent third party 

custodian as specified by the Texas Government Code, Chapter 2257, Public Funds 
Collateral Act.  

• The bank and the custodian bank must execute a custody agreement for pledged 
securities.  

• The depository/collateral agreement must be completed in full compliance with FIRREA 
which requires a Bank Board or Loan Committee resolution. (A Circular 7 will  be 
completed if a Federal Reserve Bank is acting as custodian.) 
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• All time and demand deposits and accrued interest above FDIC coverage must be 
collateralized at a minimum of 102 percent of principal plus accrued interest at all times 
(110% on mortgage-backed securities).  

• The bank is to be responsible for monitoring and maintaining collateral daily at our 
required margin levels.  

• The custodian must provide evidence of pledged collateral by sending original 
safekeeping receipts or a report directly to the District  within one business day of 
receipt. 

• The District must receive a monthly report of collateral pledged including description, 
par, market value, and cusip, at a minimum.  

• The District may grant substitution rights if the bank obtains prior approval and if 
substituting securities are received before previously pledged securities are removed 
from safekeeping.  Substitution review rights may be waived if a daily inquiry access to 
collateral information is available. 

 
 
Authorized collateral includes only the following: 

-  Obligations of the US Government, its agencies and instrumentalities including 
mortgage-backed securities and CMOs passing the bank test, 

- Municipal, state and local, obligations rated A or better by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies. 

- Irrevocable FHLB Letters of Credit  
 
 Preference will be given to pledged securities as collateral. 
 

 
a. Confirm agreement to all the conditions above.  Detail any exception or change to these 

conditions. 
 

b. What entity will be used as the custodian for pledged collateral? 
 

c. Does the bank propose any collateral charges? If so, under what conditions are they 
charged, and how is the charge applied?  
 

d. What is the bank deadline for notification of need for excess or additional collateral? 
 

e. If an LOC is used, how much time is required to change the amount of the LOC?  
Describe the process?   

 
11. Account Analysis  

 

The District requires a monthly account analysis report for each account and on a consolidated 
account basis.  
 
a. When is the online account analysis available each month?  
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b. When is the account analysis available online?  For how long? 
 

c. How long will it take the bank to correct any billing errors on the account analysis?  What 
is the process? 

 
 

12. Monthly Statements  
 

The bank must provide monthly account statements on all accounts with complete supporting 
documentation. The statement must be provided online. 
 
a. State when monthly statements are available each month online. 

 
b. How long is the imaged statement retained online?  

 
c. Can paper statements also be sent? If so, when?  

 
 

13. Overdrafts  
 

a. Are all accounts aggregated for overdraft calculation purposes?  
 

b. State the rate/fee basis for intraday and inter-day overdrafts. 
 

c. What is the policy for daylight overdrafts?  
 

14. Stop Payments  
 

The District requires a fully automated stop payment process. 
 
a. What time period options are available for stop payments?  

 
b. Are stop pays all initiated online?  Are renewals carried out online? 

 
c. What are the period options for renewals/extensions on stop payments?   

 
d. What is the cutoff hour for same-day action on stop payments?  

 
e. What information on current and expiring stop payments is available online? 

 
f. Do tellers have access to and use the current stop pay information?  How often is this 

updated? 
 

 
 
 



 16 

ALTERNATIVE SERVICES 
 

If the bank has other services which have not been requested in the RFP but which the bank 
believes may serve the District efficiently and effectively, this section is provided for a description 
of those services.  Please describe clearly and concisely and include costs, as applicable. 
 
 


